I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The West Virginia Office of Tax Appeals (“WVOTA”) erred when it concluded 

that “[t]he market value of the natural gas in the vicinity of the wellhead, as those terms are used 

under West Virginia law, is the amount reflected as the “product value” on the settlement sheets 

introduced in this matter.”  

2. The WVOTA erred by improperly calculating the gross value or gross proceeds of 

the Petitioner’s natural gas and natural gas liquids to be anything other than the “net value” on the 

settlement sheets introduced in this matter, which is undisputedly the amount of money actually 

received by Petitioner from the third-party purchaser in exchange for a sale of natural gas.  

3. The WVOTA erred in finding that fees contractually charged to Petitioner are 

“expenses” of the Petitioner under West Virginia Code §11-13A-2(b)(5) and West Virginia Code 

of State Rules §110-13A-2.7 when those fees are actually costs incurred by the third-party 

purchaser of Petitioner’s natural gas.  

4. The WVOTA erred in finding that Petitioner had deducted its own actual 

transportation and transmission costs from the gross value of its severed natural gas. 

5. The WVOTA erred in failing to follow a 2004 WVOTA decision (03-106SV 

Administrative Decision), which supports the Petitioner’s requests for refund, even though that 

previous WVOTA decision was not appealed by the State and a notice of nonacquiescence was 

not filed by the Tax Commissioner pursuant to W.Va. Code §11-10-10A.   

6. The WVOTA erred denying Petitioner’s application for the safe harbor which 

allows for a deduction of “transportation or transmission costs in the amount of 15% of the gross 

proceeds of the natural gas severed and produced.” W. Va. Code R. § 110-13A-4.8.4.   
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II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Factual Background 

 

This case involves the proper calculation of state severance tax imposed upon the natural 

gas liquids (“NGLs”) found within the natural gas that Petitioner extracts within this state. 

Petitioner is a natural gas producer with operations across the United States, including West 

Virginia. D.R.0025-26 at ¶¶ 2-5. Through its production of natural gas, Petitioner has added 

substantial economic value to this state through jobs, infrastructure, and the payment of taxes. For 

the 2015 tax year at issue, Petitioner has already paid $6,735,784 in severance taxes and is seeking 

a refund of overpaid amounts totaling $708,438.95 that was denied. See D.R.0044-47 (2015 tax 

document showing taxes paid to date); D.R.342-49 (petition for reassessment listing amount in 

controversy); D.R.0351 (refund denial letter).  

The process of severing and producing natural gas can be complicated, as can the resulting 

calculation of severance taxes. In its simplest form, Petitioner originally severs natural gas from 

the ground at what the industry calls the “wellhead.” At that time, the natural gas is an impure mix 

of various natural resources, water, and sediment. D.R.0025 at ¶3. Petitioner uses production 

equipment it owns, operates, and maintains to transform the impure mix into “raw gas”. Id. at ¶¶3-

4.  It is only once natural gas becomes “raw gas” that it adheres to applicable pipeline specifications 

and can be transported to the purchaser’s pipeline system. F.D.D.R.0203-04 at § 7.1 (gas quality).1 

                                                           
1 As explained in the procedural history Section II(B) infra, the Order Affirming Tax Commissioner’s Refund Denial 

that is being appealed in this case adopts the conclusions and reasoning of the Final Decision issued in another case, 

which is currently pending before this court as Civil Action No. 22-ICA-111. However, the transcript and exhibits 

from the evidentiary hearing that led to the Final Decision are not part of the designated record in this case. 

Accordingly, it is necessary for Petitioner to cite to the transcript and exhibits in the designated record for Civil Action 

No. 22-ICA-111 so the Court may fully and meaningfully assess the facts or parties’ legal argument. Accordingly, 

hereinafter, citations to the designated record for Civil Action No. 22-ICA-111 will be cited as “F.D.D.R.” as an 

abbreviation for “Final Decision Designated Record.” Citations to the designated record in this case remain “D.R.” in 

accordance with the Order entered November 29, 2022. 
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Petitioner has entered into the Second Amended and Restated Gas Processing Agreement 

dated December 1, 2013 (“Gas Processing Agreement”) and the Natural Gas Liquids Exchange 

and Purchase Agreement dated March 1, 2011 (“NGL Agreement”) with MarkWest Liberty 

Midstream & Resources LLC (“MarkWest”). See F.D.D.R.0160-82 (NGL Agreement); 

F.D.D.R.0185-226 (Gas Processing Agreement). Petitioner and MarkWest are two completely 

separate companies who negotiated these contracts at arms-length. F.D.D.R.0435. According to 

these contracts, Petitioner delivers the raw gas it extracts in West Virginia to MarkWest at a 

specified receipt point—the “Plant Inlet” of the processing plant owned, operated, and maintained 

by MarkWest. F.D.D.R.0196 at ¶ 5.1. Once the raw gas leaves Petitioner’s wellsite and reaches 

the Plant Inlet at MarkWest’s processing plant, MarkWest gains title to the raw gas. See 

F.D.D.R.0177 at ¶7.4; F.D.D.R.0160-61 at ¶¶1(B) & 4(B); F.D.D.R.0211 at ¶14.2.2 From the Plant 

Inlet onward, MarkWest has exclusive custody, control, and possession of the raw gas. D.R.0211 

at ¶ 13.2; F.D.D.R.0384; F.D.D.R.0431. It is at this point that a sale of natural gas from Petitioner 

to MarkWest occurs. D.R.0026 at ¶6; F.D.D.R.0380-81. 

At its processing plant, MarkWest breaks down the raw gas into its component parts: “raw 

make,” which are unprocessed NGLs, and “residue gas.”3 D.R.0026 at ¶7; F.D.D.R.0373. The raw 

make continues on to MarkWest’s fractionation plant to be fractionated into individual NGLs. 

D.R.0026 at ¶9. Throughout processing and fractionation, MarkWest maintains title, custody, 

control, and possession of the raw make and the resulting NGLs. F.D.D.R.0177 at ¶7.1. All 

facilities used in processing and fractionation are exclusively owned and operated by MarkWest. 

D.R.0026 at ¶¶5, 7 & 9; F.D.D.R.0259-60; F.D.D.R.0438-39. Once fractionation is complete, 

                                                           
2 Full citations and explanation of these title provisions is provided in Section E(ii) infra.  
3 The tax treatment of any residue gas is not at issue in this matter. F.D.D.R.0429. Only the tax treatment for NGLs is 

at issue. To the extent the Final Decision relied upon findings of fact or conclusions of law related to residue gas, it 

erred. See Footnote 13 infra.  
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MarkWest then sells the NGLs to third parties. D.R.0026 at ¶9; F.D.D.R.0371-72. MarkWest 

transports the NGLs from its plants to the final consumer through pipelines owned by MarkWest 

or third parties. F.D.D.R.00259-60; F.D.D.R.0370-72; F.D.D.R.0381-83. MarkWest determines 

who to sell the NGLs to and what price to sell the NGLs for—Petitioner has no role in that process. 

F.D.D.R.0432.    

Each month, MarkWest authors a settlement statement listing the amount of component 

NGLs it processed from the raw gas it purchased at the Plant Inlet from Petitioner. D.R.0026 at 

¶¶10-11. The settlement statements contain three key financial components: product value, fees, 

and net value. See, e.g., F.D.D.R.0231-37. These represent: 

• Per the NGL Agreement, the “product value” is the “weighted average sales price per 

gallon that MarkWest receives for” each NGL that MarkWest sells to third parties 

during the calendar month at MarkWest’s fractionation plant. F.D.D.R.00162-63 at ¶ 

5(C)(i); see also F.D.D.R.0372-75 (testimony that product value is what money 

MarkWest receives for sale of individual NGLs to third parties). 

 

• The “fees” are the various transportation, marketing, and processing fees that 

MarkWest incurred in processing the raw gas into raw make and residue gas, and 

further fractionating the raw make into individual NGLs. See F.D.D.R.00162-63 at 

¶¶5(A) & 5(C). MarkWest negotiated in the Gas Processing Contract and NGL 

Agreement for these specific fees to be deducted from the product value in calculating 

payment to Petitioner. F.D.D.R.0162-63 at ¶ 5(C)(i); see also F.D.D.R.0372-75 

(testimony on contractual fees); F.D.D.R.0439 (testimony that contract’s fees are 

typical in this industry). 

 

• The “net sales price” on the settlement statement is the sales price that MarkWest pays 

to Petitioner as described in the NGL Agreement. F.D.D.R.00162-63 at ¶5(C)(i). In 

determining the net sales price, MarkWest shall include and deduct all associated third-

party costs including all third-party transportation, tank car rentals, taxes (excluding 

income taxes), offsite storage, and similar marketing costs and expenses incurred by 

MarkWest to determine a net price freight on board (FOB) the Fractionation Plant. Id. 

MarkWest will identify in reasonable detail all of the types of costs incurred, and the 

aggregate amount thereof, to determine the Net Sales Price on Producer's statement 

each month. F.D.D.R.00162-67 at ¶ 5(A)(i). It is undisputed that the net value is the 

amount MarkWest actually pays to Equinor for sale of the NGLs. D.R.0027 at ¶14; see 

also F.D.D.R.0139-41 (letter regarding banking and tax reporting); F.D.D.R.0436-40 

(testimony regarding payment and verification of payment from MarkWest to 

Petitioner). 
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Petitioner uses the “net value” on the settlement statements when preparing both its state 

severance tax forms and federal income tax forms. F.D.D.R.0139-40. 

B. Procedural Background 

 

This case arises from the calculation of severance taxes. Petitioner determined that it had 

overpaid in severance taxes and petitioned the State Tax Commissioner (“Respondent”) for a 

refund for tax year 2015. D.R.0361. On February 27, 2019, the Respondent responded by issuing 

the operative Tax Refund Decrease Letter to Petitioner for the tax year 2015, in which it denied 

“the marketing, demand fees and administrative fees on the actual transportation allowance.” Id.4 

Additionally, it denied the 15% safe harbor because it asserted that Equinor was “claiming actual 

transportation expenses. Id. By incorrectly classifying the purchaser’s fees as Petitioner’s actual 

transportation and transmission cost and adding the fees expensed by MarkWest to the gross 

proceeds actually received by Petitioner for the sale of its commodities, Respondent effectively 

and incorrectly inflated the gross proceeds of the sale over and above what was actually realized 

by the Petitioner. Petitioner appealed the denial letter to WVOTA, arguing Respondent’s 

calculation of severance taxes did not comply with the applicable statutes. D.R.342-49.  

At WVOTA, Respondent filed a motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction, arguing the 

WVOTA lacked jurisdiction under the applicable statute because Petitioner appealed outside the 

permissible time period. D.R.0328-40. After briefing, WVOTA granted the motion to dismiss in 

January 2021. D.R.0130-43. In March of 2021, Petitioner timely appealed the WVOTA’s dismissal 

order to the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia. D.R.0103-108. In April 2022, the 

Circuit Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia reversed the WVOTA’s dismissal order and 

                                                           
4 A prior Tax Refund letter dated January 23, 2019 is not operative in this case, as it was replaced by the second Tax 

Refund letter dated February 27, 2019, which contains different refund information and is the letter is at issue in this 

appeal. D.R.0351.  
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remanded the case. D.R.0084-96. Accordingly, in May 2022, WVOTA issued an order on remand 

denying the motion to dismiss and allowing the case to proceed at WVOTA. D.R.0079-81.  

At or around the same time, the Respondent issued similar Tax Refund Decrease Letters to 

Petitioner using the same calculation of severance taxes for tax years 2014, 2016, 2018, and 2019. 

Thus, WVOTA assigned the following case numbers: No. 19-008 (tax year 2014), No. 20-111 

(2015), No. 19-064 (2016), No. 20-222 (2018) and No. 22-023 (2019). One case (No. 20-111) is 

the basis of this appeal.5 WVOTA, however, recognized that all of the cases pending before it 

shared the same facts and presented the same legal questions, but were simply for different tax 

years. See D.R.0040-41.  

Accordingly, while this case was pending before the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, 

West Virginia, the other appeal cases brought by Petitioner progressed through WVOTA, notably 

Case No. 19-008 for tax year 2014 and Case No. 19-064 for tax year 2016. After an evidentiary 

hearing on April 28, 2021, WVOTA issued a “Final Decision” in Case Nos. 19-008 and 19-064 

on August 18, 2022 affirming the Respondent’s denial of refund. D.R.0024-39. In particular, 

WVOTA concluded that the “market value of natural gas in the vicinity of the wellhead, as those 

terms are defined under West Virginia law, is the amount reflected as the product value on the 

settlement sheets introduced in this matter.” D.R.0038 at ¶8. Further, WVOTA concluded that “the 

fees contractually charged to the Petitioner [in settlement statements] are “expenses” of the 

Petitioner.” D.R.0038 at ¶9. Overall, WVOTA upheld Respondent’s valuation of the severance tax 

in all respects including the reduction of Petitioner’s refund for tax year 2015.  

Given the similarities of the cases, all parties and WVOTA agreed that this case would also 

be bound by the Final Decision. See, e.g., D.R.068-69 (letter from Judge Pollock dated Sept. 7, 

                                                           
5 Petitioner similarly appealed the other WVOTA decisions to this Court, which have designated them Case No. 22-

ICA-111 (tax years 2014 and 2016) and Case No. 22-ICA-226 (tax years 2018-2019).  
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2022 stating that this case for Case No. 20-111 would resolve by “adopting the reasoning in the 

Final Decision issued in Docket Nos. 19-008 and 19-064.”). Accordingly, on October 7, 2022, 

WVOTA issued in Case No. 20-111 an “Order Affirming Tax Commissioner’s Refund Denial,” 

which upheld the Respondent’s calculation of severance tax and denial of refund, and 

memorialized the parties’ agreement to be bound in this case by the Final Decision issued in Case 

Nos. 19-008 and 19-064. See D.R.0040-41. Petitioner timely appealed the “Order Affirming Tax 

Commissioner’s Refund Denial.” 

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

 

This case presents three interrelated issues: (1) whether, under the severance tax code, the 

“product value” or “net value” on the settlement sheets is the proper “gross value” or “gross 

proceeds” basis for calculating Petitioner’s severance tax; (2) whether the fees subtracted from the 

“product value” by MarkWest on the settlement statements are the Petitioner’s actual 

transportation and transmission expenses as defined by W.Va. Code. R. §110-13A-4.8.1; and (3) 

whether Petitioner is entitled to the 15% safe harbor deduction for transportation and transmission 

fees. Faced with these issues, WVOTA issued a decision that failed to adhere to the unambiguous, 

plain meaning of the applicable severance tax statutes or meaningfully engage with an on-point 

prior decision.  

The statutes and legislative rules clearly state that the severance tax is computed as 5% of 

the “gross value” of natural gas “at the well head immediately preceding transportation and 

transmission,” and that the “gross value” is equal to the “gross proceeds.” W.Va. Code § 11-13A-

3a(b) (imposition of tax). Gross proceeds mean “the value, whether in money or other property, 

actually proceeding from the sale.” W.Va. Code. §11-13A-2(b)(5) (statutory definition of “gross 

proceeds”); see also W.Va. Code R. §110-13A-2a.10.1 (gross value of natural gas specifically). 
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Simply stated, the tax is equal to 5% of the money a producer actually makes from selling natural 

gas. WVOTA’s decision, however, ignores the undisputed fact that the only money Petitioner 

actually received from the sale of NGLs to MarkWest is listed as the “net value” on the settlement 

statements. D.R.0027 at ¶14. Instead, WVOTA found that gross proceeds were actually the higher 

“product value” listed on settlement statements, even though the contracts clarify that the “product 

value” is the value that MarkWest receives when it sells the individual NGLs to third parties. 

D.R.0038 at ¶8. The WVOTA decision therefore erred by improperly moving the calculation both 

temporally and geographically away from the Petitioner’s wellhead and to the end of MarkWest’s 

processing plants, thereby inflating the value of the NGLs beyond their statutorily mandated 

wellhead value and therefore, also inflating the resulting severance tax numbers.   

WVOTA also erred when it held that the fees listed on the settlement statement were 

expenses attributable to Petitioner, and not MarkWest, despite those expenses (a) being 

contractually recognized as belonging to MarkWest, (b) occurring exclusively in plants and 

pipelines owed by MarkWest, and (c) happening after Petitioner has relinquished title, possession, 

custody, and control of the raw gas to MarkWest. In reaching this decision, WVOTA failed to 

apply the plain meaning of the applicable state rule, namely West Virginia Code of State Rules 

§110-13A-4.8.1, and neglected to follow a prior WVOTA decision issued February 5, 2004 that is 

directly on point, claiming it was not persuasive simply because it was decided “many years” 

before and on stipulated facts. D.R.0036-37. 

Finally, WVOTA upheld the Respondent’s position that Petitioner had already deducted 

its “actual transportation and transmission costs” by virtue of the fees on the settlement statement 

and could not also receive the 15% safe harbor for transportation and transmission costs. D.R.0038; 

see also W.Va. Code. R. §110-13A-4.8.1. Given that its conclusion is predicated on the incorrect 
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legal conclusions that the fees in the settlement statement were Petitioner’s expenses incurred in 

its system, WVOTA erred in affirming denial of the safe harbor.  

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

 Pursuant to Rule 18(a)(4) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, Petitioner 

respectfully requests that this Court grant oral argument, as it believes the decision-making process 

in this case would be significantly aided by oral argument. Rule 19(a)(1) of the West Virginia 

Rules of Appellate Procedure states that a case is suitable for Rule 19 oral argument if it involves 

“assignments of error in the application of settled law . . . .”  Here, all of the assignments of error 

have to do with the application of well-settled severance tax law in West Virginia.   

Furthermore, Petitioner respectfully requests entry of a decision through a signed opinion. 

Because Petitioner is seeking a reversal of the administrative judge’s decision, this case is not 

appropriate for a memorandum decision, which is only permitted in limited circumstances as set 

forth in Rule 21(d) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure.  

V. ARGUMENT 

Petitioner supports its appeal with the following legal argument, all of which leads to a 

single conclusion: WVOTA erred in reaching the Final Decision and Order Affirming Tax 

Commissioner’s Refund Denial, and they must be reversed.  

A. Jurisdiction 

This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to West Virginia Code § 51-11-4(b)(4) 

as Petitioner is appealing a final judgment, order, and decision of an agency or an administrative 

law judge entered after June 30, 2022.  
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B. Standard of Review 

On appeal of a decision of the WVOTA to this Court, findings of fact by the administrative 

law judge are accorded deference, unless the reviewing court concludes the findings to be clearly 

wrong and, although administrative interpretation of state tax provisions will be afforded sound 

discretion, questions of law are reviewed de novo. Antero Res. Corp. v. Steager, 244 W. Va. 81, 

84, 851 S.E.2d 527, 530 (2020) (citing Syl. Pt. 1, Griffith v. Conagra Brands Inc., 229 W.Va. 190, 

728 S.E.2d 74 (2012)).  

Furthermore, this Court “shall reverse, vacate or modify the order or decision of the 

agency” if “the substantial rights of the petitioner or petitioners have been prejudiced because the 

administrative findings, inferences, conclusions decision or order” are: 

(1) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; or 

(2) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the agency; 

or 

(3) Made upon unlawful procedures; or 

(4) Affected by other error of law; or 

(5) Clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial 

evidence on the whole record; or 

(6) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or 

clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. 

 

W.Va. Code § 29A-5-4(g). 

 

C. Operation and Language Of The Applicable Severance Tax Code  

In order to assess the WVOTA’s Final Decision, which is the basis and reasoning for its 

Order Affirming Tax Commissioner’s Refund Denial, we must interpret the language of several 

statutes and legislative rules on severance tax. To do so meaningfully, we must first understand 

how severance tax operates. West Virginia imposes a tax upon producers for the privilege of 

severing natural resources within its borders. W.Va. Code § 11-13A-3a(a). For gas and oil, this tax 

is equal to “five percent of the gross value of the natural gas or oil produced by the producer as 
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shown by the gross proceeds derived from the sale thereof by the producer . . . .”  W.Va. Code § 

11-13A-3a(b) (emphasis added). The applicable legislative rules provide guidance on what “gross

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