IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 22-ICA-225

ICA EFiled: Feb 02 2023

05:09PM EST

Transaction ID 69063447

STATOIL USA ONSHORE PROPERTIES, INC.,

Petitioner Below, Petitioner,

V.

MATTHEW R. IRBY, STATE TAX COMMISSIONER OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent Below, Respondent,

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF AND CROSS-ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Even though OTA correctly calculated StatOil's tax liability, it erred in addressing the merits at all: StatOil's petition was jurisdictionally defective and should have been dismissed prior to being decided on the merits. StatOil filed its petition at OTA nearly eleven months after the statutory sixty-day deadline. The Supreme Court of Appeals has repeatedly treated this deadline (and other procedural hurdles for tax appeals) as jurisdictional. But OTA's initial dismissal order was reversed by the circuit court and remanded for further consideration of several

factors the court thought could estop the Tax Commissioner from asserting this jurisdictional bar.

And on remand, OTA refused to dismiss based on equitable estoppel.

This decision was in error. First, the case law of the Supreme Court of Appeals is clear that equitable estoppel simply does not apply to statutory jurisdictional deadlines, such as the 60-day limitations period for filings appeals to OTA. Second, even assuming equitable estoppel could apply (which the Tax Commissioner contests), the circuit court erred in holding that StatOil was not required to prove affirmative misconduct by the Tax Department. And third, even assuming affirmative misconduct is not a prerequisite for estopping the State, OTA erred in holding that the factors in *Hudkins v. State of West Virginia Consolidated Public Retirement Board*, 220 W. Va. 275, 647 S.E.2d 711 (2007), weigh in favor of denying the Tax Commissioner's motion to dismiss. This Court should correct the circuit court's mistake and order that StatOil's OTA petition (in this tax year 2015 case) be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction.

II. If this Court does not reverse with instructions to dismiss, it should affirm on the merits because OTA properly calculated StatOil's severance tax liability. OTA properly determined that the product value reflected on Equinor's settlement statements reflected its gross value for the purpose of calculating severance tax liability. It correctly held that StatOil's product value, rather than net value, was to be used when calculating severance tax because the price of the product is determined at the point when it becomes marketable and is commercially sold. Additionally, the disputed fees reflected in the product value are post production processing fees which are to be included in the calculation of the gross value up until the product is marketable and "where production ends." W. Va. Code § 11-13A-2(e)(6); W. Va. Code R. § 110-13A-2.7. StatOil's assignments of error one, two, and three are contrary to applicable statutes and rules and so, should be rejected.

As should StatOil's assignments of error four and six. OTA correctly found that the expenses StatOil paid to MarkWest were the producer's expenses. The relevant statute and the rule provide for several alternative methods by which a producer of natural gas may receive an expense deduction from severance tax. Two of these allow a taxpayer to take a fifteen percent safe harbor deduction or take a deduction for actual transportation and transmission expenses incurred. A taxpayer may not take more than one deduction. Here, OTA determined that Equinor was not entitled to a fifteen percent safe harbor deduction because it previously received a deduction for actual transportation and transmission costs reflected in the product value found on the settlement sheets. The contract and state law support OTA's finding and are clear that StatOil was only entitled to one of these deductions. OTA's decision to give it the larger of the two options was not in error. Finally, OTA did not err by not following a 2004 OTA decision. StatOil agrees that the prior decision has no precedential weight (especially before this Court), and it is distinguishable on its facts anyway. For these reasons, StatOil's assignment of error five should be rejected too.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The Tax Commissioner requests Rule 20 oral argument because this appeal presents issues of first impression and fundamental importance regarding the methodology for calculating severance tax liability. See W. Va. R. App. P. 20(a)(1), (2).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The "jurisdictional issues" raised in this appeal "are questions of law" subject to "de novo" review. State ex rel. Univ. Underwriters Ins. Co. v. Wilson, 239 W. Va. 338, 343, 801 S.E.2d 216, 221 (2017). The lower tribunal's application of "equitable principles" are reviewed for "abuse of discretion." Helton v. Reed, 219 W. Va. 557, 560, 638 S.E.2d 160, 163 (2006). Otherwise, final decisions from OTA are reviewed under the standards set forth in the Administrative Procedures

Act, W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4g (1988). See Syl. pt. 1, Griffith v. ConAgra Brands, Inc., 229 W. Va. 190, 191, 728 S.E.2d 74, 75 (2012). Its findings of fact should "not be set aside or vacated unless clearly wrong." Id. While "questions of law" are reviewed "de novo," its "interpretation of State tax provisions" should be "be afforded sound consideration," id., and "given great weight unless clearly erroneous." Syl. pt. 2, Keener v. Irby, 245 W. Va. 777, --, 865 S.E.2d 519, 520 (2021).

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court And OTA Erred In Failing To Dismiss StatOil's Untimely Petition For Lack Of Jurisdiction.

OTA calculated StatOil's severance tax liability for 2015 correctly. But it should never have gotten there in this appeal. Instead, the circuit court should have affirmed OTA's initial dismissal of the petition as untimely filed. The statutory deadline StatOil missed was jurisdictional, and despite OTA's and the circuit court's conclusions, it cannot be equitably excused. Even if it could, the circuit court was too willing to do so: it used the wrong standard for equitably estopping against a State agency. And even under the circuit court's relaxed standard, estoppel is not warranted. This Court should fix the circuit court's and OTA's errors and dismiss StatOil's case.

A. OTA lacked jurisdiction because StatOil missed the statutory deadline to file its petition.

StatOil's appeal of the February 27, 2019 Second Refund Decrease Letter to OTA was untimely, which deprived OTA of jurisdiction to hear this appeal. The appeal was filed on April 7, 2020, well over a year after the letter was received and approximately eleven months after the deadline to appeal lapsed. Both the First Refund Decrease Letter and the Second Refund Decrease Letter expressly stated:

[I]f you have any objections to this decrease overpayment of tax, you must file a petition for reassessment with the independent Office of Tax Appeals . . . within sixty (60) days from receipt of this letter. . . . If you fail to file the aforesaid petition

within the time prescribed by law, the decreased overpayment shall become conclusive."

[D.R. at 304.]

West Virginia Code § 11-10-14 provides the exclusive remedy for obtaining a refund or credit relating to taxes assessed under Chapter 11 and makes clear that "no petition for refund or credit may be filed more than sixty days after the taxpayer is served with notice of denial of taxpayer's claim." W. Va. Code § 11-10-14(d)(1). See also W. Va. Code § 11-10A-9(b) (stating that such a petition "is timely filed if postmarked or hand delivered to the Office of Tax Appeals within sixty days of the date a person received written notice of an assessment, denial of refund or credit, order or other decision of the Tax Commissioner.").

OTA's jurisdiction under West Virginia Code § 11-10A-8(2) to hear appeals of Tax Commissioner orders denying refunds or credits is limited to those appeals brought "in accordance with the provisions of § 11-10-1 et seq. of the Code." OTA has no jurisdiction or discretion to hear untimely-filed appeals that do not comply with the deadline in West Virginia Code § 11-10-14(d)(1). The Legislature's clear intent was to impose a strict jurisdictional deadline. It could have incorporated an exception to this strict jurisdictional deadline if it desired to do so, but it did not. "A statutory provision which is clear and unambiguous and plainly expresses the legislative intent will not be interpreted by the courts, but will be given full force and effect." In re Donald M., 233 W. Va. 416, 421, 758 S.E.2d 769, 774 (2014) (citing Syl. pt. 2, State v. Epperly, 135 W. Va. 877, 65 S.E.2d 488 (1951)). The Supreme Court of Appeals has held that "[a] taxpayer's failure to abide by the express procedures established for challenging a decision of the West Virginia State Tax Commissioner, enunciated in West Virginia Code § 11-10-14(c) and (d) (1995), precludes the taxpayer's claim for refund or credit." Syl. pt. 1, Bradley v. Williams, 195 W. Va. 180, 181, 465 S.E.2d 180, 181 (1995).

B. Equitable estoppel cannot confer statutory jurisdiction in tax cases.

Again, it is undisputed that StatOil missed the statutory 60-day deadline to file its Petition. The Supreme Court of Appeals has held that "filing requirements established by statute, like the ones involved in the instant case are not readily susceptible to equitable modification or tempering." *Helton*, 219 W.Va. at 561, 638 S.E.2d at 164. In *Cate v. Steager*, 2017 WL 2608435 (June 16, 2017), the Supreme Court of Appeals cited the following cases in support of the *Helton* court's holding that statutory appeal deadlines are not subject to equitable modification.

See, Webb v. U.S., 66 F.3d 691 (4th Cir.1995) (stating that there is no equitable tolling of tax filing deadlines); See also Elk Run Coal Company v. Babbitt, 930 F.Supp. 239 (S.D.W.Va.1996) (holding that government could not appeal due to missed deadline); Concept Mining, Inc. v. Helton, 217 W.Va. 298, 617 S.E.2d 845 (2005) (stating that the Tax Commissioner's intent was irrelevant and procedural error prohibited consideration of Commissioner's appeal); State ex rel. Clark v. Blue Cross Blue Shield of W.Va., Inc., 195 W.Va. 537, 466 S.E.2d 388 (1995) Bradley v. Williams, 195 W.Va. 180, 465 S.E.2d 180 (1995) (concluding that taxpayer's failure to abide by the express procedures established for challenging a decision of the West Virginia State Tax Commissioner precludes the taxpayer's claim for refund or credit); (addressing strict deadlines in insurance insolvency cases); Solution One Mortg., LLC v. Helton, 216 W.Va. 740, 613 S.E.2d 601 (2005) (stating that tax statutes which require the giving of bond as a prerequisite to the prosecution of an appeal are strictly construed and their requirements are mandatory and jurisdictional). We have also held that West Virginia Code § 11-10A-9(b) "unambiguously provides that petitions must be filed within sixty days of receipt of the assessment." Panhandle Used Equip., LLC v. Matkovitch, No. 15-0230, 2016 WL 1417785 (W.Va. Apr. 8, 2016)(memorandum decision).

As discussed by the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals in *Webb v. United States*, "[n]ot only are equitable principles generally of limited application in tax cases, but statutes of limitations have long been considered of particular importance in such cases." 66 F.3d 691, 694-93 (4th Cir. 1995). There is "a significant judicial reluctance to 'bend the rules,' even for strong equitable reasons, in tax filing cases," *Helton*, 219 W. Va. at 561, 638 S.E.2d at 164, n. 6, because deadlines are of particular importance in tax cases where the finality provided by a statute of limitations is "an almost indispensable element of fairness as well as of practical administration of an income

tax policy." See Webb, 66 F.3d at 694-95 (citing Rothensies v. Electric Battery Co., 329 U.S. 296, 301 (1946)). Equitable estoppel should only be applied against the government "with the utmost caution and restraint." Estate of Carberry v. Comm'r of IRS, 933 F.2d 1124, 1127 (2d Cir. 1991).

Additionally, the Supreme Court of Appeals has held that the government should not be estopped when it is acting in a governmental capacity, as the Tax Department did here when it was communicating with StatOil about its tax refund claim. *McFillan v. Berkeley Co. Planning Comm'n*, 190 W. Va. 458, 465, 438 S.E.2d 801, 808 (1993) ("a municipality acting in a governmental, rather than a proprietary, capacity is not subject to the law of equitable estoppel and ... therefore, estoppel cannot be based on unauthorized acts of municipal authorities acting in a governmental capacity."). In *Shaffer v. Monongalia General Hospital*, 135 W.Va. 163, 169-70, 62 S.E.2d 795, 798 (1950), the Supreme Court of Appeals stated that:

The basic test in determining whether a public corporation, in its operations, is engaged in a discharge of a governmental function or is acting in a proprietary capacity is whether the act performed is for the common benefit of the public or is for the special benefit or profit of the corporation.

"[T]ax collection is a governmental, as opposed to a proprietary, function." W. M. R.R. v. Goodwin, 167 W. Va. 804, 820, 282 S.E.2d 240, 250 (1981). Here, the Tax Department's communications with StatOil about its tax refund (as the Tax Department does with all taxpayers in need of this service) was an act performed for the common benefit of the public, and the Tax Department was not acting "for [its] private gain[.]" McFillan, 190 W. Va. at 465, 438 S.E.2d at 808. Thus, equitable estoppel should not apply to the Tax Department for this additional reason.

In short, the doctrine of equitable estoppel should generally have no application in extending the deadline to appeal a decision of the Tax Department to OTA.

C. The circuit court erred in holding that proving affirmative misconduct is not required to estop the Tax Department.

Even if equitable estoppel could extend jurisdictional deadlines, OTA was correct that StatOil did not meet the elevated burden of proof (*i.e.*, affirmative misconduct) applicable in cases where the government is estopped in its proprietary capacity. On appeal, the circuit court erred in holding that affirmative misconduct is not a required element.

In proceedings before OTA, the burden of proof is on the petitioner. See W. Va. Code § 11-10A-10(e). To bring a basic claim for equitable estoppel, a litigant must show five elements: "there must exist a false representation or a concealment of material facts; it must have been made with knowledge, actual or constructive, of the facts; the party to whom it was made must have been without knowledge or the means of knowledge of the real fact; it must have been relied on or acted on it to his prejudice." Syl. pt. 4, Hudkins, 220 W. Va. at 276, 647 S.E.2d at 712. Equitable estoppel cannot arise "merely because of action taken by one on a misleading statement made by another. In addition thereto, it must appear that the one who made the statement intended or reasonably should have expected that the statement would be acted upon by the one claiming the benefit of estoppel, and that he, without fault himself, did act upon it to his prejudice." Syl. pt. 4, Barnett v. Wolfolk, 149 W. Va. 246, 246, 140 S.E.2d 466, 467 (1965).

Applying the facts before it to the traditional test for equitable estoppel, OTA determined that the "Petitioner prevails, but it is a close call." [22-ICA-225, D.R. at 138.] During the hearing, a Ryan employee testified that he was told a third refund denial letter would be issued after a \$23,000 error was explored; however, the Tax Department's witness testified that she could not recall whether Ryan was told that a third refund denial letter would be issued. [22-ICA-225, D.R. at 132.] The Tax Department's witness also testified that it is not the policy or practice of the Tax Account Administration Division to send out updated refund denial letters after a refund check is sent to the taxpayer. [22-ICA-225, D.R. 235-26.] StatOil's witness (a Ryan employee) testified

that nobody advised him to wait or delay in filing the Petition with OTA. [22-ICA-225, D.R. at 255.].

Viewing these facts in a light most favorable to StatOil, OTA presumed that Ryan was advised that a third refund decrease would be forthcoming, that the statement was made by a Tax Department employee having constructive knowledge that a third letter might not be issued, that Ryan/StatOil did not know that a third letter might not be issued, and that Ryan/StatOil acted in reliance on the Tax Department's representation to their detriment. [22-ICA-225, D.R. at 117-19.]

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